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I INTRODUCTION 

Chief John Peters of the Moravian of the Thames Indian Band, 

in his letter of July 7, 1981 to the Honourable Alan W. Pope, 

Minister of Natural Resources, stated that the Indian Band 

has an interest in the Thames River and the bed of the Thames 

River in an area "from the boundaries of the Aldborough - 

Orford township line to the boundaries of the Howard - Orford 

township line" in Kent County. He indicated that the 

Moravian Indian Band maintains that they did not cede this 

area to the Crown by Cession # 47 of October 25, 1835, or by 

Cession # 83 of April 9, 1857, or by Cession # 832 of May 15, 

1857. Chief Peters expressed the Indian Band's position that 

because this portion of the river remains unceded, it is not 

subject to the administration and control of the Government 

of Ontario. 

The objective of this Research Report is to present all of 

the known relevant historical facts concerning the claim of 

the Moravian of the Thames Indian Band to that part of the 

water and bed of the Thames River located between the 

Aldborough - Orford township line and the Howard - Orford 

township line in Kent County. This Research Report does not 

attempt to draw any conclusions concerning the facts 

presented and does not constitute the Government of Ontario's 

position on the Moravian of the Thames Indian Land Claim. 

However, it is intended to provide all of the relevant 

historical information necessary to develop a candidate MNR 

position on the claim. 
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II HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

a ) The Moravian Indian people and Missionari es_i_n_the 

Ohio River Valley 

During the 1730's, members of an Evangelical 

Protestant Church based in Moravia in Austria, who 

called themselves Moravians, sent missionaries to 

christianize Indian people living in various parts of 

North America.^In 1705 the Moravian Missionaries began 

working among the Delaware Indian people who were then 

residing in scattered villages in the Ohio River 

2 
valley. The Moravian Missionaries referred to those 

Delaware Indian people whom they had converted to 

Christianity as the "Moravian Indians"* •* or the 

3 
"Christian Indians." 

During the American Revolution of 1775-1783, both 

British and American military officers accused the 

Moravian Indian people and Missionaries of assisting 

the enemy and both sides attacked the Moravian 

4 
communities. The Moravians attempted to protect 

*The term "Moravian Indians" was used from 1792 until 
the 1850's by official-s in the British Indian 
Department when referring to the Delaware Indian 
people who had been converted by the Moravian 
Missionaries to Christianity. From the 1850's until 
the 1880's Indian department officials used the 
appellation "Delaware Nation of Indians residing on 
the Moravian Reserve." In Cession #199, however, 
dated November 13, 1882, these Indian people were 
referred to by the name which they call themselves 
today, "The Moravian of the Thames Indian 3and." In 
this report the term "Moravian Indian people" refers 
to the Delaware Indian people who had been converted 
•* f+Xm. ~ i — u ; • M i 4 ( r KtJ MmratJi' an mi C?C?T n D a r 1 <OC ^ r\ 
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themselves by relocating their settlements and by co- 

operating with the British. After the American 

Revolution formally ended with the signing of the 

Treaty of Paris in 1733, the safety of their Ohio 

communities was jeopardized by conflicts between 

American and Indian forces fighting for control of the 

American West.5 

In January 1791 the Moravian Indian people and 

Missionaries asked Alexander McKee and Matthew 

Elliott, British Indian agents, if they knew of any 

available land where they could settle in peace. 

Although neither Indian agent suggested a location to 

the Moravians, Matthew Elliott promised that the 

British government would assist them and provide them 

with ships for moving if they chose to abandon their 

settlement in the Ohio Valley.^ Early in December of 

1791 the Moravian Indian people and missionaries 

decided that they could no longer reside in the Ohio 

valley and proposed that the British Government allow 

them to cultivate a tract of unimproved land, 

indicating that the government would profit from their 

efforts.7 In response to this suggestion, Matthew 

Elliott and Alexander McKee encouraged the Moravian 

missionaries and Indian people to "seek out a suitable 

place and settle on it," promising that "no one would 

8 drive them from it". 

In February 1792 Abiah Parke, then a merchant based in 

the Thames River region of the Province of Canada, 
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recommended that the Moravian missionaries and Indian 

people consider moving to the Thames River valley, 

which he knew was suitable for agriculture.9 Later 

that month when the Moravian missionaries and Indian 

people told Alexander McKee of Abiah Parke's 

suggestion, they received his encouragement and 

assurance that he would "make the matter right" with 

the Chippewas and other Indian people who occupied and 

used lands in the Thames River Valley. l°The Moravian 

missionaries and Indian people planned to leave the 

Ohio valley as soon as possible.11 

b) Cession #2, May 19, 1790 

The Royal Proclamation of 1763 had in part reserved 

the area in which the Thames River valley was located 

for the Indian people as their "hunting grounds." 

This document stated that Indian lands could only be 

alienated to the British Crown after formal 

negotiations had been conducted with the Indian people 

and their consent to the cession had been obtained. 

The Royal Proclamation of 1763 did not state 

specifically whether or not the Indian people had an 

12 
interest in water or land under water. 

By Cession #2 dated May 19, 1790, the Chiefs of the 

"Ottawa, Chippewa, Pottawatomy, and Huron Indians 

Nations [si<^ of Detroit "ceded to the British Crown 

their lands "in the Province of Quebec" described as: 
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a certain Tract of land beginning at the 
mouth of Catfish Creek, commonly called 
Riviere au Chaudière on the North Side of 
Lake Erie being the Western extremity of a 
Tract purchased by His said Majesty from 
the Messesagey running Westward along the 
border of Lake Erie and up the Streight to 
the mouth of Channail Ecarte to the first 
fork on the south side, then a due east 
line until it intersects~~the Riviere a la 
Tranche fThames River]}, and up the said 
Riviere a la Tranche to the North West 
corner of the said cession granted to"~His 
Majesty in the year One Thousand Seven 
Hundred and Eighty Four, then following 
the Western boundary of said tract being a 
due South direction until it strikes the 
mouth of said Catfish Creek or otherwise 
Riviere au Chaudière being the first 
offset 3mPhasis addedj ^ 

These lands, purchased for sale to non-Indian 

settlers included the area along the Thames River 

now known as Orford Township in Kent County. From the 

description in Cession #2 above, it is unclear whether 

or not the Indian people noted above intended to cede 

or did in fact cede the Thames River or the bed of 

that River. No reference was made in that document to 

the Moravian Indian people and Missionaries. 

c) An Act to introduce the English Law as the Rule of 

Decision of 1792 and the common law principle of ad 

medium filum aquae 

On October 15, 1792 the Legislature of Upper Canada 

passed An Act to introduce the English Law as the Rule 

of Decision in all matters of controversy relative to 

Property and Civil Rights. This statute was used by 

the Ontario Court of Appeal in Keewatin Power Co. vs 

Kenora in 1908 to decide that the English common law 
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principle of ad medium filum aquae was operative in 

Upper Canada from October 15, 1792. Under the common 

law principle of ad medium filum aquae the ownership 

of the bed of the waterway is included in the grant of 

the land adjacent to the waterway unless the terms of 

the grant or the surrounding circumstances indicate 

.. . 15 otherwise. 

d) The arrival of the Moravian Indian people and 

Missionaries in Upper Canada and their Thames River 

Settlement, 1792-1799 

In March 1792 Moravian missionary Gottlob Senseman 

travelled to Detroit to inform Alexander McKee that 

the Indian people living in the Thames River valley 

had encouraged the Moravian Indian people and their 

missionaries to settle in that part of Upper Canada.16 

McKee informed John Graves Simcoe, then Lieutenant 

Governor of Upper Canada, about the Moravians' plans 

and agreed to make arrangements with the Chippewa 

Indian people regarding the proposed settlement. In 

April 1792 the Moravian Indian people and missionaries 

travelled to the Thames River area now identified as 

Orford and Zone Townships (see attached Map 1) where, 

on May 2, 1792, they selected a site for their 

settlement. Anxious to ensure that this location was 

acceptable to the officials of Upper Canada, Senseman 

visited Colonel Richard England, President of the Land 

Board of the Western District of Upper Canada. 
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Colonel England questioned Senseman about the location 

and condition of the Moravian settlement: 

He asked farther IHsic^] how many Indian 
families were witn us, and said a township 
would not be too much for us, that is, 
nihe miles square, and we should have it 
on both sides of the river, for the river 
divides the townships, which are surveyed 
below us on both sides. He ... said 
farther (sicJ3 that if the Governor came 
here next spring he would help us carry 
out our affairs; as often as anyone of us 
came to Detroit, he could call upon him.17 

By the end of 1792 the Moravian Indian people and 

Missionaries had cultivated over one hundred acres 

along the Thames River.18 The Moravian missionaries 

believed that their settlement would require a great 

deal more land than this one hundred acres in order to 

protect their converted Indian people.from what they 

regarded as the "immoral" and "heathen" behaviour of 

the non-Indian settlers and the Indian people who 

resided outside of the Moravian settlement. In 

response to a request made by the Moravian 

missionaries asking the Government to keep the area 

surrounding them free of settlers, Lieutenant Governor 

Simcoe instructed Colonel Richard England to consult 

the Moravian Indian people and missionaries before 

ordering any surveys of the land surrounding their 

settlement.1^ 

On February 16 and 25, 1793 Simcoe visited the 

Moravian settlement accompanied by his military 

secretary, Major E.B. Littlehales, who recorded m his 

journal that although Simcoe was pleased with the 



development of agriculture in the settlement, he was 

concerned about its location. Simcoe thought it 

possible that that part of the settlement located on 

the north side of the Thames River had not been 

2 Q included -in Cession $2, dated May 19, 1790. When he 

returned in March, however, Simcoe told the Moravian 

missionaries and Indian people that he believed that 

their land had been included in the purchase of 1790 

and that the Government would give them this land to 

compensate for their losses during the American 

21 Revolution. He agreed to their request that a patent 

would be granted to them "in the name of the Society's 

2 2 trustees in England." This patent, however, was 

apparently never issued. 

In a letter to Henry Dundas, the British Government's 

Secretary of State for War and the Colonies, Simcoe 

referred to the potential of the Thames River for 

transportation and communication and noted that the 

land located between the Thames River and Lake Erie 

was "the finest for all agricultural purposes in North 

America, and far exceeds the soil or climate of the 

2 3 Atlantic States". Simcoe envisaged that the Thames 

River would be valuable in helping to link together 

the settlements located in the southern part of Upper 

Canada.2^ He regarded the area located at the forks 

of the Thames, now known as the city of London, as a 

suitable site for the location of the capital of Upper 
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2 ç 
Canada. However, this location was rejected, and 

instead York was chosen as the seat of Government. 

On May 4, 1793, Moravian missionary David Zeisberger 

recorded in his diary that Patrick McNiff, then deputy 

surveyor of the Western District, intended to survey 

the land located to the west of their settlement now 

identified as Howard and Camden townships and "then to 

measure off their land, especially all in one piece, 

and not to lay it out in lots. "26 McNi f f considered the 

Moravians' township "the best on the river, containing 

the most good land, that is, the greatest bottoms."27 

He described the condition of the Thames River along 

the Moravian tract: 

From the Delaware Village up to the Forks, 
the general Breadth of the River is Two 
Chains. On the strong currents, from one 
and a half to two feet in depth, stony 
bottom. In the still water the general 
depth is from Four to Five feet, with sand 
and small stones at bottom. In the still 
water the general depth is from Four to 
Five feet, with sand and small stones at 
bottom... The River rises in the spring 
about ten feet at the Delaware Village, 
and between six and seven feet at the 
Fo rks ,28 

McNiff's survey of the land located west of the 

Moravian tract, which became identified as Howard and 

Camden Townships, indicated that the western boundary 

of the Moravian tract "would tall a mile and a half" 

from the Moravian town and that the Moravian Indian 

people and missionaries would lose cultivated lands as 

well as maple sugar bushes.29 The Moravian 

missionaries and Indian people hoped that a portion of 
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the land located north of the Thames River would be 

given to them to compensate tor the loss of this land 
on 

to the west. McNiff postponed his survey of the 

Moravian township and indicated that it was necessary 

to discuss the findings of his survey of the land 

located west of the Moravian tract with Colonel 

Richard England, then President of the Land Board of 

the Western District. 

In response to a petition from Gottlob Senseman, the 

Executive Council of Upper Canada granted to the 

Moravian Indian people and missionaries "a tract of 

land on the River La Tranche ^Thames Rive^rjto be 

located on a width of six and three quarter miles 

about their village, extending twelve miles back on 

the south side and northward to the purchase line," 

pursuant to an Order-in-Council dated July 17, 1793.32 

The Moravian missionaries noted that although "how 

many Miles inland could not be determined, since the 

boundary line of the purchased land had not yet been 

run to the north side," it seemed certain "that white 

people who settl e£f] thickly on the river fcould not^ 

press close upon [then^. "33 The Order-in-Council dated 

July 17, 1793 did not indicate whether or not the bed 

and water of the Thames River were included in the 

grant to the Moravian missionaries and Indian people. 

In January 1794 Me Niff once again visited the 

Moravian missionaries and Indian people. This time he 

had been instructed by Simcoe that the Moravian Tract 
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would consist of thirty-two lots located "on both 

sides of the £rhame^ river, namely sixteen on each 

side" thereby making the town located on the north 

side of the Thames River the centre of the township."^ 

For reasons which he apparently did not explain McNiff 

surveyed the Moravian tract to include "eighteen lots 

on each side of the river." 35 Senseman and some of the 

Moravian Indian people "blazed the line on both sides 

of the river" which delineated the boundaries of the 

Moravian tract established by McNiff.36The instructions 

issued to McNiff directing him exactly where to locate 

the boundaries of the Moravian tract are not extant. 

The location of the boundaries which McNiff claimed to 

have established is not known.37 

In 1798 Gottlob Senseman again petitioned the 

Executive Council of the Province of Canada, "praying 

for a tract of land on the river Thames six miles in 

breadth and twelve in depth, whereon ^hey had~] made 

large improvements, being m the year 1793 permitted 

by His Excellency Governor Simcoe to occupy same" and 

requesting a patent to the tract. Pursuant to an 

Order-in-Council dated June 11, 1798, this request was 

granted : 

Ordered that the Surveyor General be 
directed to cause a survey to be made of 
the tract appropriated to the trustees of 
the Moravian Society by an Order-in- 
Council dated the 10th July, 1793. And 
that this tract be reserved forever to the 
Society in trust for the sole use of their 
Indian converts. A tract to be laid off 
at the same time contiguous thereto equal 
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to two sevenths of the quantity in the 
said tract, one of which is to be reserved 
forever (agreeable to the Act) for the 
support of a protestant clergy in the 
province.38 

There is no record extant which indicates that a 

patent was issued by the Government of Upper Canada to 

the Moravian Indian people and missionaries. A patent 

was, however, issued to Jacob Henkell by Peter 

Russell, then Receiver General, on July 12, 1798, tor 

"two hundred acres" in Orford Township and defined as: 

Beginning at a Post marked 1/2 on the 
South Bank of the River Thames, then South 
45 degrees East 68 chains, then North 
Easterly, parallel to the said River 30 
chains, then North 45 degrees west to the 
said River, then along the Bank with the 
Stream to the place of beginning.3^ 

With this one exception, no patents were issued by the 

Government of Upper Canada for land in Orford Township 

until 1818 or in Zone Township until 1823.^° 

There is no record extant which indicates that an 

attempt was made to implement the instructions in the 

Order-in-Council of June 11, 1798. On February 5, 

1799 Gottlob Senseman wrote to D.W. Smith, Acting 

Surveyor of Upper Canada, inquiring whether or not any 

survey instructions had been issued. He requested 

that a patent be granted for the lands on which they 

had been living for eight years. He emphasized that 

the missionaries had "the least view of self interest" 

in the land and that it was "for the sole use of the 

Indian people, and Qhe missionariesiD business of 

converting and civilizing them."^l 
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In a letter of February 26, 1799 Smith instructed 

Deputy Surveyor Abraham Iredell "to survey the 

Moravian tract and enclosed for [the surveyor'0 

guidance two Orders of Js^O Council, relative to the 

Moravian Indian people settled upon River La Tranche." 

He directed Iredell to 

...commence at the North East Angle of the 
Township of Howard, upon the said River, 
and survey the River up, so as to give 
them a width of six miles and 3/4 on a 
course, running north 45 degrees east; but 
if you have not good and accurate Tables 
for working tor latitude and departure, 
you had better run a right line of that 
distance, and take the course of the River 
afterwards from each extremity of this 
Line, you will run two Lines South 45 
degrees east, to Lake Erie and two other 
Lines from the said extremities, to run 
north 45 degrees west, to the purchase 
line of 1790, which you have began, and 
which it will be necessary for you to 
complete for this purpose.42 

Iredell explained that since the southern boundary of 

the land purchased from the Indian people on May 19, 

1790 had not been surveyed, he was unable to state 

exactly where the northern boundary of the Moravian 

tract would be located.43In accordance with the 

provisions of The Constitutional Act of 1791 Smith 

instructed Iredell to designate one seventh, or 7405 

5/7 acres, of the Moravian tract as clergy reserves 

and another seventh as Crown reserves. To compensate 

for the loss of the lands reserved in the southern 

part of the tract the Moravian Indian people and 

missionaries were to receive an additional 14,811 3/7 

acres north of the Thames River.44 
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On a sketch entitled "Indian Village in Orford, 

Western District," and bearing Smith's initials, the 

eastern and western boundary lines of the Moravian 

tract, drawn from Lake Erie, extended across the 

Thames River "to the boundary of the purchase in 

1790-"^5Smith advised Iredell to explain to Gottlob 

Senseman how the survey of Orford Township would be 

4 6 , conducted. From Smith's instructions it appears that 

he intended Iredell to survey the land which became 

identified as Orford and Zone Townships located on 

each side of the Thames River. However, no survey of 

the tract was made in 1799. In a letter of March 25, 

1799, Senseman told Smith that Iredell claimed that he 

had never received the survey instructions and that 

they "most certainly must have been lost on the Rhoad 

|Ticj."^7 It was not until 1803 that another survey of 

the Moravian tract was commissioned. 

e) Abraham Iredell's survey of the Moravian Tract, 130 3 

In accordance with instructions issued by James Green, 
48 

Secretary of the Lieutenant Governor's Office, 

William Chewitt and Thomas Ridout, who then jointly 

occupied the post of Surveyor General, directed Deputy 

Provincial Surveyor Abraham Iredell on June 1. 1803 to 

survey Orford Township in accordance with the Order- 

in-Council dated June 11, 1793. Iredell was ordered 

to continue the southern boundary line of Cession $2 

dated May 19, 1790 "to the River Thames." That part 
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of the Moravian tract located north of the Thames 

River was described as 

... the Land comprehended and bounded_on 
the River Thames on the South - by the 
continuation of the Western Boundary of 
Orford on the West - by the continuation 
of the purchase line on the North ... and 
on the East, by the continuation of the 
Eastern Boundary Line, should there be any 
continuation of the same ... [emphasis 

On December 12, 1803 Chewitt and Ridout wrote to 

Iredell informing him of a change in the Lieutenant 

Governor's instructions. Iredell was instructed to 

survey the clergy and crown reserves in the southern 

part of Orford Township and to "let the content of the 

said Township be whatever it may" without adding any 

land to the tract to compensate for those reserves. 

No explanation was provided suggesting why this 

alteration was made in the area of land to be surveyed 
50 

for the Moravian Indian people and their missionaries. 

Despite unfavourable weather conditions Iredell 

conducted his survey between December 15th and 25th 

1803. No reasons were given to explain why this 

survey "beginning 2 chains North side of the Thames 

River" did not include at least part of Orford 

Township.^1 It was not until 1829 that a survey of the 

southern part of the Moravian Tract was completed. 

f) The Moravian Indian people and Missionaries and the 
War of 1312 

Although the Moravian Indian people, in accordance 

with the wishes of the Moravian missionaries, 
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initially refused to become involved in the conflict 

between the United States and Great Britain which had 

52 
officially begun on June 13, 1212, Matthew Elliott 

was able to persuade some of them to assist the 

British during the War of 1812 by promising "that if 

they would fight faithfully for their Grandfather the 

King, they should have a double claim to the land on 

53 
which their town stood." During the Battle of the 

Thames, fought on October 5, 1313, on the north side 

of the Thames River where the Moravians had settled, 

some of the Moravian Indian people who had apparently 

"always conducted themselves well and with the 

greatest zeal since the commencement of Hostilities 

with the United States" were killed and the British 

forces commanded by Major General Henry Proctor were 

54 
defeated. The Moravian settlement of Fairfield, 

located on the north side of the Thames River, was 

destroyed by American forces commanded by Colonel 

Richard M. Johnson?5 The Moravian missionaries and 

56 
Indian people appealed to and received compensation 

from the Government of Upper Canada in the form of 

money for the destruction of their settlement during 

the War of 1312.57With these funds the Moravian Indian 

people and missionaries built New Fairfield on the 

south side of the Thames River. Although the land on 

the north side of the Thames River continued to be 

cultivated, only one family of Moravian Indian people 

lived there after 1315 when the construction of New 

58 
Fairfield was completed. 



19 

g) Cession #25, July 8, 1822 

The Chippewa Indian people signed a provisional 

agreement (Cession #21) on March 9, 1819, ceding to 

the Crown a "tract of land” on the north side of the 

Thames River which included the area now identified as 

Zone Township in Kent County. In this cession 

document no reference was made to the Moravian Indian 

people. On July 8, 1822 the "Chiefs and Principal Men 

of the Chippewas" signed an Indenture (Cession #25) 

confirming the provisional agreements of March 9, 1819 

(Cession #21) and May 9, 1820 (Cession #280 1/2) and 

which surrendered to the Crown "about 580,000 acres."59- 

This surrender was described as: 

Commencing on the northerly side of the 
River Thames at the south-west angle of 
the Township of London; thence along the 
western boundary line of the Township of 
London on a course north twenty-one 
degrees thirty minutes west twelve miles 
to the north-west angle of the said 
township; thence on a course about south 
fifty-eight degrees west forty-eight 
miles, more or less, until it intersects a 
line on a course produced north two miles 
from the north-east angle of the Shawanese 
Township, now the Township of Sombra; 
then south two miles to the north-east 
angle of the said township; then along 
the eastern boundary line of the said 
township twelve miles and a-half, more or 
less, to the northern boundary line of the 
Township of Chatham; then east sixteen 
miles more or less, to the River Thames; 
thence following the water's edge of the 
said River Thames against the stream to 
the place of beginning Qemphasis addecQ.60 

The Indenture did not contain any reference to any 

interest that the Chippewa Indian people may have had 

in the water or to the bed of the Thames River. 
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h) Mahlon Burwell's survey of the Moravian Tract, 1829 

On February 27, 1821 Surveyor General Thomas Ridout 

requested Deputy Surveyor Mahlon Burwell to survey 

Zone Township "containing about 66,000 acres" and 

"bounded on the South by the Southern boundary line ot 

Sombra, and Northern Boundary line of Chatham, Camden, 

and Orford. "^^The Moravian missionaries and Indian 

people were told by Burwell that the purchase line of 

1790 (Cession #2) had been surveyed and that the 

northern boundary of their tract, described in the 

Orders-in-Council as "the purchase line," was, in 

fact, the Thames River.62 On June 20, 1821 Moravian 

missionary Abraham Luckenbach wrote to Lieutenant- 

Governor Sir Peregrine Maitland suggesting that the 

boundaries of the Moravian tract be redefined to 

prevent the Moravian Indian people and missionaries 

from losing the site of Fairfield and about eighty 

acres of cultivated land located on the north side of 

the river.63 The Moravian Indian people and 

missionaries requested the Upper Canadian Government 

to "extend their Lands about six miles northerly of 

the River Thames", and "retain six miles southerly of 

the same River" thereby making New Fairfield the 

centre of the tract. They indicated that in exchange 

for the lands in Zone "an equal portion off the 

southerly part of Orford [would^ be surrendered to the 

Crown." 6Zf The Upper Canadian government accepted the 

proposal presented by Luckenbach and Ridout informed 

Burwell: 
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... the Moravian Village on the south side 
of the River Thames is to be made a 
central position in their lands, and to 
accomplish this the southern part of 
Orford will be given up, tor a like 
quantity in the Township of Zone north of 
the River Thames. These two several 
quantities will be regulated by the 
quantity contained in the Tract originally 
granted to the Moravians which is "a Tract 
of land on the River La Tranche ([Thames 
RiverJ on a width of 6 3/4 miles about 
their village and extending 12 miles back 
on the south side and northward to the 
purchase line." 65 

Burwell began his survey of the Moravian Tract by 

speaking with Moravian missionaries Abraham Luckenbach 

and Adam Harnam on September 29, 1829. He showed his 

maps to the missionaries and 

intelligent Indian people so 

their boundaries."66Burwell 

to "several of the more 

that they might know 

noted that the Moravian 

Tract consisted of 26,005 acres in Zone Township and 

25,155 acres in Orford Township. His field notes and 

plan of the survey do not indicate whether or not the 

bed of the Thames River was considered to be part of 

the Townships of Orford and Zone.67 

i) Cession #47, October 25, 1836 

On April 27, 1824 Thomas Ridout, then Surveyor 

General, wrote to George Hillier, Secretary to 

Lieutenant Governor Maitland, indicating that he had 

received a number of applications from non-Indian 

people eager to settle in Zone Township.68 Although the 

Government of Upper Canada was unsuccessful in its 

attempts in 1819 and in 1833 to persuade the Moravian 

missionaries and Indian people to sell part of their 
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land for the setttlement of non-Indian people, Sir 

Francis Bond Head, then Lieutenant Governor of Upper 

Canada, attempted in 1836 to negotiate a surrender. 

Shortly after the signing of Treaty #45 and 45 1/2 on 

August 9, 1836 whereby the Ottawa and Chippewa Indian 

people ceded Manitoulin Island for the settlement of 

Indian people who had surrendered their lands to the 

Crown, Head travelled through the Western district. 

He did not visit the Moravian Missionaries but 

arranged instead to meet with five Moravian Indian 

people twelve miles away from New Fairfield and 

suggested that if they agreed to sell their lands in 

Orford and Zone Townships they could "move to the 

Lakes northward, where he would give them as much land 

69 
as they wanted." Head stated that the Indian people 

should consider selling their lands in Zone township 

since they "had more land than they needed, and ... 

they had neglected to keep that great public road 

which [ran] through this portion [of their tract]} in 

repa ir . "70 A1 though both proposals were rejected by the 

five Indian people with whom Head met, three councils 

were held in New Fairfield in October 1836 and twenty- 

eight of fifty-four Indian people voted to cede their 

lands in Zone township contrary to the wishes of the 

missionaries. 71 

On October 25, 1836 by Cession #47 the Moravian Indian 

people ceded to the Crown "all their interest in the 

lands occupied by [them~] on the north side of the 
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River Thames" in return tor an annuity of $600 and 

"reasonable compensation" for the improvements which 

the Moravian Indian people and missionaries had made 

on the lands surrendered. The boundaries of the land 

* . 7 9 
ceded were not specified. There is no record extant 

indicating whether or not the Moravian Indian people 

intended to cede or to not cede the bed of the Thames 

River at that time. 

In the fall of 1836 Abraham Luckenbach, wrote to Bond 

Head, then Lieutenant Governor of Upper Canada, on 

behalf of the Moravian missionaries and the twenty-six 

Moravian Indian people who had opposed the cession 

(#47). Luckenbach suggested that Head "make the 

public Road the Boundary between the Two Portions ... 

as they did not wish to lose the Land between the 

River and the Road, that being the best cultivated 

part of their Allotment" and "grant them a Reserve of 

a Square Mile and a Half opposite to New Fairfield, 

including the site of the old Town destroyed during 

the War of 1813."73In April 1837 Head agreed to allow 

the Moravian Indian people to retain land on the north 

side of the Thames River and to make the southern 

boundary of the purchase of 1836 the public road. He 

did not state, however, how many acres surrounding the 

site of Fairfield would be reserved for the Moravian 

Indian people.7^ Although those Moravian Indian people 

who had previously rejected 'the surrender agreed to 

its revised terms, the Moravian missionaries refused 



to sign the agreement, stating that all of the land in 

the Moravian tract was required to keep "White People 

from settling too near them, a Circumstance which has 

always proved injurious to QheirD Indian mission."75 

Pursuant to an Order-in-Council dated September 21, 

1837 "the high road leading to Sandwich" was 

"considered to be the Southern boundary" of the tract 

ceded to the Crown by the Moravian Indian people on 

October 25, 1836. 760n November 2, 1837, John Macaulay, 

Surveyor General, directed Alexander Macintosh, Deputy 

Surveyor, to "ascertain and lay down with great care, 

the position and direction of the Road, which forms 

the southern boundary of the tract intended to be 

sold" and to 

north side of 

lots within 

sold, the own 

river.77 Macln 

1838, did not 

Thames River 

the Moravian 

General Thoma 

survey "the o 

of Fairfield 

ceded to the 

accordance wi 

Superintendent of Indian Affairs for the Western 

Super intendency, Springer noted that the "Indian 

extend the concession lines from the 

the road "to the River," so that if the 

the reserved tract were at some point 

ers of them would have access to the 

tosh's survey, completed on April 26, 

indicate whether or not that part of the 

in Zone Township was considered part of 

Tract78 On January 22, 1845 Surveyor 

s Parke directed Benjamin Springer to 

utlines of the site of the Old Village" 

which had been reserved from the tract 

Crown on October 25, 1836.79 In 

th the wishes of Colonel J.B. Clench, 
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Reserve,” located on the north side of the public road, 

consisted of 219 acres.®0 While surveying, Springer 

noted that the "old {public} road" also referred to as 

"Long Woods Road", had been rarely used since the 

construction of the "new plank road" which he believed 

would "be permanent" and suggested that the "new plank 

road" be made the southern boundary of the land ceded by 

the Moravian Indian people in 183S.8J- The Moravian Indian 

people agreed to this recommendation?2 On July 23, 1345 

T. Bouthillier, of the Crown Lands Department, directed 

Springer "to establish the Plank Road as the boundary 

between the Indian Reserve and Crown Lands in the County 

83 
of Zone." Springer's survey, like that made by Abraham 

Steers in 1344, did not indicate whether or not that 

part of the Thames River in Zone Townshio was at that 

time considered part of the Moravian Tract. 

j) Lord Elgin's Proclamation of November 3, 1350 under The 
Indian Protection Act, 1859 

On August 10, 1350 the Legislature of the Province of 

Canada passed The Indian Protection Act which provided 

"protection" of the "property occupied or enjoyed" by 

the Indian people in Upper Canada "from Trespass and 

Injury.Lord Elgin's Proclamation dated November 3, 

1850 put the lands reserved for the occupation of the 

Moravian Indian people in Zone and Orford Townships 

under the provisions of that Legislation. The area 

reserved in Zone Township was defined as follows: 
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Bounded on the north-west by the road leading 
from London to Chatham, on the south-east by 
the River Thames, on the north-east by the 
Towns’STp of~Mosa, and on the south-west by the 
Township of Camden, including the site of the 
Old Moravian Village in the said Township of 
Zone, County of Kent, and bounded on the East 
by the’road allowance between the seventh and 
eighth concessions, on the north by lot 
lettered No. in the seventh concession, on the 
west by lots E. F. H & L in the seventh 
concession, and on the south-east by the road 
leading from London to Chatham ^emphasis added/. 

The land reserved in Orford Township was described as 

be i ng 

Bounded on the North-west by the River Thames, 
on the south-east by the sfxTh concession of 
Orford aforesaid, on the north-east by the 
Township of Aldborough, and on the south-west 
by the Township of Howard, excepting the lands 

Henkill on the River Thames 

Lord Elgin's Proclamation of 1850 made no specific 

reference to the bed of the Thames River. 

k) Cessions #33, April 9, 1857 and j332 May 15, 1857 

In a report of February 13, 1857, Thomas Worthington, 

Commissioner of Indian Affairs, stressed the importance 

of having the "Delaware or Moravian Indian people" 

surrender to the Crown a large portion of their lands in 

88 
Zone and Orford Townships. Like Thomas Worthington, R. 

S. Pennefather, Suoerintendent General of Indian 

Affairs, was interested in the Moravian Tract noting 

that the "peculiar position in which the Moravian 

Reserve is situated and the control which may be 

exercised over the Indian people residing on it in 

granted to Jacoi^ 
(emphasis added)0 
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consequence of the incompleteness of their Title" made 

it a "spot well fitted for (anj experiment of locating 

the tribe on small lots and throwing open the remainder 

of the Tract for Settlement".®9 Pennefather suggested 

that the Moravian Indian people surrender all of their 

land except "3000 acres including the Moravian Village 

to be laid out in small farms for the present Indian 

Occupants" proposing that the Crown pay the Indian 

people an annuity of L4,000 and compensate them for any 

of the improvements that they had made.^Q 

By the 1850's most of the Moravian Indian people had 

converted from the Moravian denomination to Methodism. 

Numerous disagreements occurcsd between the Indian people 

• 91 and the resident Moravian missionary, Jesse Voglerr 

R.T. Pennefather, Froome Talfourd, and Thomas 

Worthington, Commissioners appointed on September 8, 

1855 "to investigate Indian Affairs in Canada," reported 

that although the "Moravian Delawares" possessed "the 

richest land in the Country, they raised so little food 

that within the last two years many families have been 

in a starving cond i t ion. " &t the recommendation of 

Pennefather, Sir Edmund Walker Head, Governor General of 

British North .America, including Canada West (Upper 

Canada) granted the Commissioners permission to 

negotiate surrenders with the "Moravian Delawares" 

93 without consulting the resident Moravian missionary. 
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On April 9, 1357 the "Chiefs and Leading Men of the 

Delaware Nation of Indian people residing on the 

Moravian Reserve" signed an indenture (Cession $83) 

surrendering to the Crown the "tract adjoining the River 

Thames, in the Townships of Zone and Orford, known as 

the Moravian Reserve." Conditions of the surrender 

included : 

Firstly: That a sufficient quantity shall be 
reserved for the purpose of being divided 
among the Indian people of the first part in 
lots as shall be hereafter agreed upon. 

Secondly: That each family to whom a farm 
shall be so allotted shall receive a written 
document giving to them and their children 
exclusive occupation of such lot. 

Thirdly: That a house shall be built for each 
family who may be removed from their present 
farms on the tract now surrendered. 

Fourthly: Any Indian family so removed shall 
receive the value of their improvements as 
appraised by a competent party. 

Fifthly: The whole proceeds of the sale of the 
tract now surrendered shall, after deducting 
the expenses incurred in carrying out the 
above recited conditions, be held in trust for 
the benefit of the Indian people of the first 
part, and their children, for ever. 

Sixthly: The interest so arising shall be 
payable half yearly to the Indian people of 
the first part. 

This surrender was witnessed by R. T. Pennefather, T. 

Worthington and F. Talfourd, sixteen of the "Moravian 

Delawares" and the two resident Moravian missionaries, 

J. Vogler and L. E. Vogler. The intent of this 

surrender was to cede all of the rest of the Moravian 



Tract, as originally granted in 1793, that had not 

already been ceded in exchange for a Indian Reserve 

that was to be subsequently established from part of 

the Moravian Tract. 

On April 23, 1857 R. T. Pennefather, Superintendent 

General of Indian Affairs, instructed Francis H. 

Lynch, Provincial Surveyor, to survey the Moravian 

Indian Reserve "composed of the north westerly part of 

the township of Orford, and that portion of Zone which 

lies opposite it, between the River Thames and the 

main road leading from Chatham to London." Lynch was 

told to begin his survey by establishing the 

boundaries of that part of the tract designated as an 

Indian Reserve: 

Your first operation will be to plant a 
Post on the south 3ank of the R_iver^Thames 
at the Mouth of the Saw Mill Creek, thence 
running a line southward parallel to the 
western Boundary line of the said township 
of Orford, a distance of two Statute 
Miles, thence Eastward on a line parallel 
to the northerly boundary of the sixth 
concession of the Southerly part of the 
said Township of Orford, a like distance 
of two miles; and thence Northward on a 
course parai1 el to the first mentioned 

i_n e [ a distance of two Mjies more or less 
to the River Thames [emphasis addedJ5~5 

He was also to "appraise the value of any Indian 

including the frontage on the North Side of the river" 

in Zone Township before surveying and subdividing the 

surrendered land into farm lots. The survey plan 

prepared by Lynch does not clearly indicate the 

improvements outside of limits, 
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location of the northern boundary of the Moravian 

9 6 tract in Orford Township. Lynch's survey was based on 

a "Report of the Committee of the Honorable the 

Executive Council" dated June 2, 1357 which stated 

that the reserve would consist of "two miles square, 

including £the Moravian Indian people's^ present 

village and church thereby giving each family "a small 

9 7 farm of about 35 acres." 

On May 15, 1857 the "Chiefs and leading men of the 

Delaware Nation of Indian people" signed an indenture 

(Cession 1832 ) ceding "in trust to be sold for their 

benefit, the tract adjoining the River Thames" in Zone 

and Orford Townships. This surrender was subject to 

the same six conditions outlined in Cession 433 and 

was v/itnessed by the same reoresentatives of the 

Crown, the Moravian missionaries, and the "Moravian 

Delawares." 

In his report for the year 1857 R. T. Pennefather 

stated that "that large block of land in the valley of 

the Thames" had been surrendered by "the miserable 

remnant of the Delawares in whose hands it lay so long 

neglected and waste." He explained the importance of 

this surrender: 

Independent of the intrinsic value of the 
soil, and the timber which still remains 
upon it, the condition of the tract 
situated in the middle of the most fertile 
parts of Canada West was a great 
inconvenience to the neighbouring 
settlers, who might wish to pass through 
the township or into the adjoining 
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Counties. So long as the land was kept as 
an Indian Reserve, they were obliged, to 
travel many miles out of their way. 

Sales of the lands surrendered by the "Moravian 

Delawares" were not, however, as profitable as 

Penne fathèr had thought and in 1859 he recorded that 

4,774 acres of the 30,000 acres surrendered were 

unsold and that those lands purchased from the Crown 

were sold at "about one-half of what it was valued two 

„100 
years ago. 

1 ) Conditions since 1857 

Land surrendered or land cessions since 1857, like 

those made prior to that date by the Moravian of the 

Thames Indian Band, contain no references to the bed 

of the Thames River.101 In addition, on plans of 

Moravian Indian Reserve $47 prepared by W.G. McGeorge, 

Ontario Land Surveyor, in 1902, and G. 3abbage, 

Ontario Land Surveyor, in 1959, there is no reference 

102 . 
to the bed or the water of the Thames River. Since 

1357, the Government of Ontario has administered and 

controlled the bed of the Thames River as Crown land 

103 
in right of the Province. 
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III SUMMARY 

1. With the encouragement and assistance of members of the 

Indian Department the Moravian Indian people and 

missionaries migrated in May 1792 from the Ohio River 

valley to the present day Townships of Orford and Zone 

in Kent County where they established a settlement 

called Fairfield. Prior to the arrival of the Moravian 

Indian people and Missionaries in the Thames River 

valley, the Chiefs of the Ottawa, Ojibwa (Chippewa), 

Pottowatomi and Huron Indian People ceded to the 3ritish 

Crown the area along the Thames River now known as 

Orford Township in Kent County. The historical 

documentation does not state whether or not the Ojibwa 

(Chippewa) ceded the Thames River and the bed of that 

river prior to or after 1793. 

2. Pursuant to an Order-in-Counei1 dated July 10, 1793, the 

Crown granted to the Moravian Indian people and 

missionaries the tract of land on which they had settled 

"located on a width of six and three quarter miles about 

their village, extending twelve miles back on the south 

side and northward to the purchase line." This document 

contains no reference to the bed of the Thames River. 

3. On July 3, 1S22 the Ojibwa (Chippewa) Indian people 

surrendered to the Crown (Cession 125) the area now 

known as Zone Township. Mo reference was made to the 

bed of the Thames River in this cession. In 1829 Mahlon 
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Surwell surveyed the boundaries of the .Moravian tract to 

extend six miles north and six miles south of the Thames 

River. His field notes and plan of the survey contain 

no reference to the bed of the Thames River. 

4. On October 25, 1836 the Moravian Indian people 

surrendered (Cession 147) their lands north of the 

Thames River. There is no record extant indicating 

whether or not the Moravian Indian people intended to 

cede or to not cede the bed of the Thames River. 

Pursuant to an Order-in-Counei1 dated September 21, 1837 

the Longwoods Road in Zone township was made the 

southern boundary of the purchase of 1335. Two hundred 

and nineteen acres located north of the Longwoods Road 

were reserved for the Moravian Indian people. In 1345 

the Moravian Indian people agreed to make the Plank Road 

rather than the Longwoods Road the southern boundary of 

the land which they had ceded in 1836. 

5. On April 9, 1857 the "Delaware Mations of Indian people 

residing of the Moravian Reserve" surrendered (Cession 

$33) their lands in Zone and Orford Townships adjoining 

the Thames River. 3y this Cession document the 

"Delaware Nation of Indian people Residing on the 

Moravian Reserve" ceded the tract on the Thames River 

that had been granted in trust to the Moravian Indian 

people and missionaries in 1793. An Indian Reserve was 

subsequently established for them south of the Thames 
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River. There is no record extant indicating whether or 

not that Indian Reserve included the bed of the Thames 

River. 

Land surrenders or other land cessions since 1357, like 

those made prior to that date by the Moravian of the 

Thames Indian Band, contain no references to the bed of 

the Thames River. In addition, on plans of Moravian 

Indian Reserve $47 prepared by W.G. McGeorge, Ontario 

Land Surveyor, in 1902, and G. Babbage, Ontario Land 

Surveyor, in 1959, there is no reference to the bed or 

the water of the Thames River. Since 1857 the 

Government of Ontario has administered and controlled 

the bed of the Thames River as Crown Land in right of 

the Province. 
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APPENDIX 

MAP Is 

Approximate Boundaries of the Moravian Tract 
1793-18 3S 
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Map 2: 

Land Cessions, 1835-1857 
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